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          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Ladies and

          3  gentlemen, thank you for bearing with us today. I

          4  apologize for the delay in getting this hearing

          5  convened. My name is John Liu. I have the privilege

          6  of chairing this Committee and hearing on the

          7  Transportation Committee.

          8                 Today's agenda is comprised of two

          9  items. Proposed Intro. No. 205-A relating to the

         10  City's electrical-related infrastructure. And also

         11  an oversight issue relating to the announced

         12  proposed takeover of the City's private bus lines by

         13  the MTA.

         14                 The first item proposed Intro. No.

         15  205-A represents the culmination of months of

         16  oversight and hearings on predecessor bills held by

         17  this Committee to come up with the best way to

         18  mandate greater safeguards against the possibility

         19  of injury or death caused by electrical related

         20  infrastructure in the City of New York.

         21                 The predecessor bills were introduced

         22  in response to the tragic death of Jodie Lane on

         23  January 16, of this year, 2004, when she was

         24  electrocuted after stepping on an

         25  electrically-charged metal plate on a sidewalk in
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          2  Manhattan.

          3                 The Committee today considers the

          4  latest version of proposed Intro. No. 205- A which

          5  incorporates the suggestions and recommendations of

          6  witnesses who were kind enough to share their

          7  testimony with this Committee at earlier hearings.

          8  The bill also represents the end result of

          9  considerable dialogue with the Bloomberg

         10  Administration and relevant impact at utility

         11  companies.

         12                 Proposed Intro. 205- A is a

         13  legislative initiative that would impose certain

         14  requirements applicable to any local electrical

         15  corporation which essentially means any electrical

         16  corporation that owns and operates transmission and

         17  distribution systems for the provision of electrical

         18  service in New York City. These requirements are

         19  designed to make these entities more vigilant about

         20  the safety of their electrical related

         21  infrastructure.

         22                 Periodic inspections, repairs and

         23  reports will be mandated for the purposes of

         24  detecting and eliminating stray voltage. The City

         25  Department of Transportation would be required to
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          2  conduct random tests of such infrastructure to

          3  ensure that the equipment is not emitting stray

          4  voltage. Additionally, a public safety educational

          5  campaign relating to potential electrical dangers

          6  would be required. All these measures are aimed at

          7  ensuring that there are no further injuries or

          8  fatalities caused by stray voltage in our City.

          9                 The second matter pending before this

         10  Committee today is the issue of the proposed

         11  transfer of the City's subsidized private bus lines

         12  to the Metropolitan Transportation Authority. The

         13  transfer was announced by the Mayor, the Governor

         14  and the MTA Chairman on April 19, of this year.

         15  They, at the time, proudly announced that they

         16  expected the takeover plans to be completed and

         17  implemented by July 1, of this year, at which time

         18  the MTA would completely assume responsibility for

         19  service on these lines. That deadline has come and

         20  gone. It's not the first time that the deadline has

         21  come and gone.

         22                 Originally, a plan was supposed to be

         23  consummated by December 31, 2003. That was the end

         24  of the contract period and the authorization for the

         25  private bus companies. In October and November 2003,
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          2  it became obvious to this Council that there was

          3  absolutely no progress being made with regard to

          4  this proposed MTA takeover of the private bus

          5  companies and at that time in November 2003, we and

          6  the Council saw it necessary to extend the legal

          7  authority of these private companies to continue

          8  operating for an additional six months. That

          9  extended the deadline for this MTA takeover plan to

         10  be consummated to June 30, 2004.

         11                 We did that in late 2003 to ensure

         12  that there would be no disruption of bus service to

         13  the nearly 400,000 New Yorker's who rely on these

         14  private bus lines. As June 30, 2004 approached, we

         15  held hearings. We held numerous hearings in this

         16  body and in this Committee. None of which

         17  representatives of the MTA nor the Administration

         18  agreed to attend. They kept not only the Council,

         19  but the City of New York in the dark about what this

         20  plan was going to be. Not surprisingly as June 30

         21  approached, the Administration came back to this

         22  Council to ask for another nearly six months.

         23                 Where we stand today on September 8,

         24  2004, is that we have a deadline of December 4, for

         25  this MTA takeover plan to be reached and completed
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          2  and implemented. It is already September 8. We are

          3  less than three months away and at this point

          4  neither the Council nor the public has been given

          5  any interim information about this proposed MTA

          6  takeover of the bus lines.

          7                 The reason why we're so concerned

          8  about this is as time goes on the bus service

          9  provided by these lines continues to deteriorate.

         10  Deteriorate not because of the fault of the private

         11  bus companies, but primarily because those buses are

         12  continuing to break down. They are not being

         13  replaced. They will not be replaced anytime soon

         14  before the MTA completes its takeover of these

         15  lines. So, it is imperative that we focus attention

         16  on this and put the pressure on the Administration

         17  and the MTA to finish this plan so that we can stop

         18  this decline of bus service for riding New Yorkers

         19  and so that we can come up with the right long- term

         20  solution on what to do with these private bus lines

         21  and what to do for the working men and women of New

         22  York who rely on these lines.

         23                 I'm happy to see that we are

         24  expecting a representative of the Administration to

         25  testify on the proposed takeover plan. Today's
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          2  hearing has been convened to get an update on this

          3  private bus line takeover as well to take a vote on

          4  proposed Intro. 205- A. We are going to start with

          5  testimony from the Administration just on proposed

          6  Intro. 205- A. We'll hear testimony on this bill,

          7  take a vote and then we'll launch into the issue of

          8  the private bus line takeover.

          9                 I'm joined today by Committee

         10  Members, Helen Sears from Queens, James Sanders,

         11  Jr., from Queens, Larry Seabrook from the Bronx,

         12  Oliver Koppell from the Bronx and Joe Addabbo, also

         13  from Queens. I'd like to thank the staff of the

         14  Transportation Committee for all their work in

         15  putting this legislation and this Committee hearing

         16  in place. Mitch Schwartz our Assistant Director of

         17  the Infrastructure Division and Roberto Ragone,

         18  Special Project Coordinator for the Infrastructure

         19  Division. At this time, I am pleased to ask Deputy

         20  Commissioner David Woloch to join us.

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WOLOCH: Good

         22  morning, Chairman Liu and members of the

         23  Transportation Committee. I am David Woloch, Deputy

         24  Commissioner for External Affairs at the New York

         25  City Department of Transportation. With me here
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          2  today is Steven Galgano, DOT's Executive Director of

          3  Traffic Operations Engineering. Thank you for

          4  providing me with this opportunity to testify today

          5  on proposed Into. 205- A.

          6                 As I stated in June at the last

          7  hearing on this legislation, I commend this

          8  Committee for focusing on the safety of utility work

          9  performed on the City's street and sidewalks and

         10  making this issue a priority in the aftermath of the

         11  January 16th tragedy. Ensuring the safety of those

         12  traveling on the City's streets and sidewalks is

         13  certainly a top priority for DOT, and we welcome the

         14  opportunity to be here again today.

         15                 Proposed Intro. 205- A would require

         16  all local electric corporations to establish and

         17  implement written guidelines and procedures for the

         18  annual inspection, repair of each category of their

         19  electrical related infrastructure used to provide

         20  electrical service; and where necessary to make

         21  appropriate repairs within 24 hours. The bill also

         22  goes a step further by requiring DOT to conduct at

         23  least 250 annual random tests of electrical related

         24  infrastructure for the purposes of detecting stray

         25  voltage and to submit written reports of each test
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          2  to the Public Service Commission and to the local

          3  electric corporation.

          4                 The bill additionally requires that

          5  local electric corporations utilize where

          6  practicable and appropriate non- conductive

          7  protective materials to insulate their electrical

          8  related infrastructure to prevent stray voltage. It

          9  also requires such corporations to submit an annual

         10  report to the PSC, the Council and DOT, detailing

         11  their inspections, repairs and the types of

         12  nonconductive protective materials utilized for

         13  insulation. Lastly, the bill requires local electric

         14  corporations to establish and implement an

         15  educational campaign to inform the public of how to

         16  identify and protect themselves from the dangers of

         17  stray voltage.

         18                 As I previously stated before this

         19  Committee, the Administration supports the intent of

         20  this bill and annual inspections as a mean of

         21  ensuring the safety of the public as they navigate

         22  the City's streets and sidewalks. Any person walking

         23  around the City should be assured of the integrity

         24  of the electrical equipment located on and below the

         25  streets and the sidewalks. As I have also previously
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          2  stated, the Council is committed to making sure that

          3  our traffic signal poles and street light poles are

          4  inspected at least once a year.

          5                 As I've stated in the past, it has

          6  not been within the purview of DOT's mission to

          7  regulate utilities. The PSC is the entity that has

          8  oversight responsibilities over Con Edison and is

          9  the entity responsible for establishing rules and

         10  procedures to ensure that Con Edison's

         11  infrastructure is safe to the public and well

         12  maintained. However, that said, we appreciate the

         13  Council's intent in requiring DOT to conduct this

         14  testing and DOT joins the Council in supporting this

         15  measure and this bill and recommends and expects

         16  that the Mayor will sign this bill.

         17                 As the agency responsible for the

         18  safety of the City's streets and sidewalks,

         19  protecting the public as they travel around the City

         20  is a primary concern for DOT. Accordingly, we

         21  applaud the Council in their efforts to address the

         22  safety of the City's electrical infrastructure.

         23  Thank you for this opportunity to testify before you

         24  today. At this time, we'd be happy to answer any

         25  questions.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you, Deputy

          3  Commissioner Woloch. I want to thank you for

          4  participating in the numerous hearings that we have

          5  had on this topic and this proposed legislation. In

          6  our earlier hearings on the unfortunate death on

          7  January 16, we had been very disturbed in this

          8  Committee to hear from testimony from your agency as

          9  well as from Con Edison and from the Public Service

         10  Commission that there did not appear to be any kind

         11  of strict oversight or accountability measures I

         12  think that by law the Public Service Commission of

         13  New York State is generally responsible for

         14  conducting these reviews and inspections and making

         15  sure that the utilities are keeping the public safe.

         16                 At the same time, we also recognize

         17  that the Public Service Commission's main charge or

         18  main job that they actually were doing were

         19  regulating rates for electric payers and not really

         20  looking at these safety requirements as one of their

         21  primary responsibilities. They, in fact, testified

         22  that they relied upon utility companies throughout

         23  New York State to actually basically self- certify

         24  that their own work was safe and to self- certify

         25  that incidents had not occurred throughout the year.
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          2  In fact, it also came out during those hearings that

          3  often times these utilities actually under reported

          4  the incidents that should have been self- certified

          5  and reported to the Public Service Commission.

          6                 It was at that point that we turned

          7  our legislative focus to the Department of

          8  Transportation for the City of New York. Not to make

          9  life more difficult for you, but I think it's in

         10  large part a measure of the confidence that we have

         11  and the ability for your agency to do this work. We

         12  want to thank you for stepping up to the plate, if

         13  you will, to take on a responsibility that your

         14  agency has not previously been charged with

         15  explicitly and to helping further ensure that New

         16  Yorker's can feel safe in walking on our streets and

         17  sidewalks. We have a question from Council Member

         18  Sears. We've also been joined by Council Member

         19  Sarah Gonzalez from Brooklyn. Council Member Sears.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you, Mr.

         21  Chair. To repeat, I think it's commendable that the

         22  agency wants to take on this additional

         23  responsibility which leads to my question. Do you

         24  have to hire additional manpower to do these random

         25  which are over several hundred random sites? Or will

                                                            14

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  you be able to do that with what you have?

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WOLOCH: We don't

          4  expect that we will have to make any additional

          5  hires to comply with the law.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: That's a lot of

          7  additional inspections.

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WOLOCH: Well, you

          9  have to remember, we already are out there with an

         10  ample workforce addressing issues with our street

         11  lights and our signal poles and our contractors are

         12  out there. Doing 250 additional tests is certainly

         13  operationally something that we think we can handle.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: And when those

         15  reports are given, you will have the same manpower

         16  that is going to follow through on those additional

         17  testing that you haven't done before?

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WOLOCH: In terms

         19  of the test --

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Let me explain

         21  my questions. Because I think it's terrific what

         22  you're doing. But I also know what happens at budget

         23  time. I also know that there are severe cuts that

         24  have to be made and they will be in our next budget.

         25  The fact is that assuming this responsibility is
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          2  going to need those dollars, I think and we want to

          3  be sure that there are not going to be cut and it's

          4  going to have to fall to us to see that it's there.

          5  That will happen if you send out the word that you

          6  are going to need those dollars to do this. It seems

          7  to me that it's an additional responsibility which I

          8  think is great. I think you're going to have to need

          9  some monies to do that.

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WOLOCH: I can

         11  definitely assure you that we never miss an

         12  opportunity to come here and point out that

         13  something is going require more resources. Certainly

         14  if it does, we'll let you know. But I think the

         15  number of inspections that's required is something

         16  that get easily absorbed by our staff. I'll just use

         17  as an example. We currently on average every year

         18  are probably doing about 75,000 repairs or incidents

         19  that we in some way coming out to inspect or do work

         20  on one of our poles. Another 250 is something we can

         21  definitely handle.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Okay. Thank

         23  you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you Council

         25  Member Sears. Thank you very much Deputy
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          2  Commissioner and Mr. Galgano for joining us this

          3  morning.

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WOLOCH: Thank

          5  you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Next we'll hear from

          7  Guinar Hellekson from the Jodie Lane Project to

          8  testify in favor of 205- A. We've also been joined

          9  by Margarita Lopez, Council Member, who is the prime

         10  sponsor of proposed Intro. 205- A. I'll guess we'll

         11  hear from Mr. Hellekson first and then we'll hear

         12  from Council Member Lopez.

         13                 MR. HELLEKSON: Thank you, Councilman

         14  Liu. Once again the Jodie Lane Project would like to

         15  thank Councilman Liu and the Transportation

         16  Committee for addressing these persistent and

         17  obvious problems with our infrastructure. We are, of

         18  course, encouraged by the very public efforts of the

         19  sponsors in this Committee. With this draft of

         20  Intro. 205- A, however, we see a few missed

         21  opportunities. As drafted, the legislation would

         22  document problems that are discovered but does not

         23  prevent future problems. It's a diagnostic tool and

         24  there are no explicit mandates or incentives to

         25  eliminate this threat to public safety. We
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          2  understand that this may be unavoidable due to

          3  jurisdictional issues, but it is regrettable.

          4                 Since this process began, we've

          5  learned that the public safety is endangered not

          6  only by spray voltage but the euphemistically named

          7  manhole incidents, which occur a dozen times a day,

          8  and super heated sidewalks that can permanently scar

          9  pedestrians. This nearly scope legislation then does

         10  not address the complete set of problems.

         11                 The Jodie Lane Project as you may

         12  know is collecting reports of public safety problems

         13  for our hazard mapping initiative. As reports come

         14  in from individuals and organizations, they are

         15  cataloged and published on the internet so that the

         16  general public can see trends, problems and incident

         17  reports for their own neighborhoods. This kind of

         18  public oversight is essential and we're keenly

         19  interested in working with the City Council to

         20  ensure that the public has ready access to the data

         21  created by this legislation.

         22                 These suggestions should not diminish

         23  the considerable work by the sponsors and this

         24  Committee. This legislation is more than welcome. It

         25  is absolutely essential in preventing New Yorkers
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          2  from being hurt, scarred, maimed, killed by the

          3  invisible dangers on their own sidewalks. Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you, Mr.

          5  Hellekson. And thank you for your efforts on behalf

          6  of this legislation which is clearly needed at this

          7  time. We've also been joined by Council Member

          8  Margarita Lopez, the prime sponsor of proposed

          9  Intro. 205- A, who has some comments at this time.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I would like to

         11  excuse myself for being a little late for this

         12  hearing. I had two other engagement prior to this

         13  hearing being scheduled. One of them was in the

         14  court system and the Judge kept me hostage inside.

         15  Then I apologize to you for not being here in the

         16  morning at the time that this hearing began.

         17                 I basically would like to indicate

         18  that under the leadership of the Chairman of this

         19  Committee, the leadership of the speaker of the

         20  Council and the willingness of the Administration to

         21  pass this bill, we are achieving a very important

         22  moment in regard to the problems of the safety

         23  issues that we, New Yorkers, have to confront every

         24  time that we come to the street. As I speak today to

         25  you, I will prefer not to put this legislation
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          2  forward if I would have seen a proactive attitude

          3  from the part of the utilities. If that proactive

          4  attitude would indicate to mean, the district where

          5  I am, where many of these incidents have happened,

          6  that we are counting on an industry that is a

          7  partner with citizens, perhaps I would not feel that

          8  I needed to do this.

          9                 As I speak to you today, I'm very sad

         10  to tell you that on 30th Street next to the house of

         11  my Chief of Staff, two manholes exploded. When he

         12  came out of his house, he seen the fire trucks and

         13  everything else that you can imagine related to

         14  this. He went to ask them what happened and they

         15  simply indicated, oh, the two manholes exploded and

         16  they are on fire. It is something very wrong in the

         17  way that the infrastructure related to the

         18  electrical industry is being kept in this City. It

         19  is something deeply wrong.

         20                 This bill is trying to address the

         21  safety of each and every one of us. God forbid, that

         22  tomorrow a child of yours walks on the street and

         23  get killed by a stray voltage. Or you yourself.

         24  That's the purpose of this bill. To make sure that

         25  this doesn't happen ever again. That Jodie Lane
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          2  never again occur in the City of New York. I don't

          3  know if we will achieve that with this bill. This is

          4  my contribution of my community to try to move

          5  forward in a more safety City. Not just in regard to

          6  crimes, but in regard of what we do. How we conduct

          7  business in turn of the services that we are

          8  alleging providing to the people of the City in

          9  regard to electricity. We need to have some safety

         10  nets attached to it.

         11                 I thank every member of the

         12  Committee, the Chair and the speaker and the

         13  Administration for being willing to resolve this

         14  problem. We will continue to monitor the activities

         15  of Con Edison in my district. Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you Council

         17  Member Lopez. At this time, we are going to call for

         18  a vote of the Committee on proposal Intro. 205- A.

         19  This bill is a good bill. It is a product of

         20  countless hours that has been put into putting

         21  together a bill and refining a bill and then re-

         22  refining a bill that will achieve our objectives of

         23  making streets and sidewalks in New York safer and

         24  at the same time, in a way that is practical and

         25  achievable. I recommend that the committee members
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          2  vote yes on this bill. Will the Clerk please call

          3  the roll?

          4                 COUNCIL CLERK: Liu.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Yes.

          6                 COUNCIL CLERK: Koppell:

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Yes and I

          8  would like to be added as a sponsor, Mr. Chairman.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Duly noted.

         10                 COUNCIL CLERK: Sanders.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS: Yes, and I

         12  too would like to be added as one of the sponsors.

         13                 COUNCIL CLERK: Addabbo.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Yes.

         15                 COUNCIL CLERK: Seabrook.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: Yes, Mr.

         17  Chairman, and I would like to be added as a sponsor.

         18                 COUNCIL CLERK: Sears.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Permission to

         20  explain my vote, Mr. Chair.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Please do.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you. I

         23  was not on the original Intro. Because I had some

         24  very strong reservations about the process and the

         25  procedures. But thanks to the Chair and to the
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          2  sponsor of this bill, so much of that has really

          3  been removed. So, I thank you for the effort that

          4  was put in to modifying this bill. I vote for it and

          5  I would like to be added as a co- sponsor and I

          6  thank you for the efforts that my Councilwoman and

          7  my Chair put into this. Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you.

          9                 COUNCIL CLERK: Gonzalez.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER GONZALEZ: Yes, and I

         11  would like permission to explain my vote.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Please do.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER GONZALEZ: As a

         14  legislator, I truly believe that it is our utmost

         15  responsibility to ensure that our City is safe. As a

         16  body, I thank Councilwoman Margarita Lopez, the

         17  Speaker, Chairman Liu and everyone who has worked so

         18  hard on this particular Intro. Because it really,

         19  really is about life and about quality of life. And

         20  I'm very proud to be a co- sponsor. Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you.

         22                 COUNCIL CLERK: By a vote of seven in

         23  the affirmative, zero in the negative and no

         24  abstentions, the item is adopted. Council Members,

         25  please sign the Committee Report. Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you. We will

          3  now turn our attention to the proposed takeover by

          4  the MTA of the private bus companies. I wish to

          5  remind everybody who is here that if you have any

          6  comments you'd like to express to this Committee

          7  concerning this matter, please feel out one of these

          8  slips that you can be added to the speaking roster.

          9  You can get these from the Sergeant at Arms.

         10                 As our first witness for this part of

         11  the hearing, we have Mark Page from the Bloomberg

         12  Administration to speak about the proposed MTA

         13  takeover of the private bus companies. And as Mr.

         14  Page prepares to testify, let me just reiterate some

         15  of the points that I made slightly earlier which is

         16  that this has been a long process that we have gone

         17  through. Originally, there was a December 31, 2003

         18  deadline for coming up with a plan for the MTA to

         19  take over the private bus companies. That was

         20  extended to June 30, 2004, because in late 2003, we

         21  and the Council felt that the progress was not being

         22  made and we did not want to see a disruption of bus

         23  service.

         24                 In the end of June 2004, the

         25  Administration came back to the Council and asked us
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          2  to extend the deadline once again to December 4,

          3  2004. Basically a nearly six month extension and

          4  today we are now less than three months away from

          5  that new deadline. We don't want to see anything

          6  fall apart again this time and we want to see a

          7  long- term solution put in place as quickly as

          8  possible on what to do with these private bus lines

          9  so that these 400,000 riders can expect that their

         10  bus service will be intact and not continue to

         11  suffer the declining service along these private bus

         12  lines. At this point, this Committee is very honored

         13  to have Mark Page, the Budget Director from the

         14  Bloomberg Administration to speak about the progress

         15  of this proposed MTA takeover. Thank you, Mr. Page

         16  for joining us this morning.

         17                 MR. PAGE: Thank you for having me. I

         18  will describe hopefully not at too great length

         19  where I think we are in this transaction and we'll

         20  attempt to respond to your questions. I think that

         21  we have, in fact, made considerable progress. The

         22  MTA takeover of this part of bus service for New

         23  York City is something that we've been trying to

         24  achieve for a while. The MTA wanted, as you all

         25  know, state legislation which would have enabled
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          2  them to reorganize their existing bus service and

          3  bring in the new service currently carried by the

          4  seven private companies in what they thought would

          5  be a more effective and sensible management

          6  structure. They didn't succeed or we, because we

          7  tried to do this with them, didn't succeed in

          8  getting that new structure through the legislature

          9  in the beginning of the August.

         10                 Nonetheless, the MTA is standing by

         11  their commitment to take over the responsibility for

         12  this service. As you know from their letter this

         13  morning, they are actually seeking to set up a new

         14  corporate entity to enable them to manage the

         15  service now provided by the private bus companies

         16  and this is something that they are confident they

         17  can do without requiring state legislation.

         18                 I think that's all positive and

         19  practical and realistic in terms of what needs to be

         20  done to make this transaction happen. As you know,

         21  we're talking about seven different private

         22  companies, about 3,000 employees and at the moment

         23  about 1,250 buses. This takeover requires us to

         24  basically work out operationally how the management

         25  of this service is going to shift over from the
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          2  private companies to the MTA.

          3                 As a practical matter, how the

          4  existing workforce is basically going to move from

          5  their current employment to employment by the MTA.

          6  You can't run 1,250 buses without people. As a

          7  practical matter and the way to do this is use the

          8  people who are currently doing it. They know what

          9  they're doing. This service is also dependent on the

         10  depot facilities that the private companies now use.

         11  Some of those facilities, the City actually has

         12  title to. Many of them, the City doesn't. But, in

         13  order to continue the bus service, the MTA will need

         14  possession of those facilities because the buses

         15  have to park somewhere and be maintained somewhere

         16  as a practical matter.

         17                 We have been in discussion with the

         18  private companies for some months now. Besides the

         19  logistical housekeeping of how you transfer this

         20  kind of day to day operation which is clearly

         21  complicated and involved, there are questions of

         22  compensation. Basically, what are we taking in terms

         23  of property of the private companies. What is the

         24  fair value for this? That's a question which is

         25  obviously important to New York City taxpayers and
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          2  important to the private companies. Arriving at a

          3  value that is fair to both sides is an elaborate

          4  appraisal and negotiation process in itself.

          5                 The major issues there are an

          6  appropriate evaluation of real property that is the

          7  depots that we are going to need to run the buses.

          8  We have retained appraisers and that process is

          9  ongoing. In addition, there are issues having to do

         10  with the value of the ongoing business in these

         11  instances, as I guess generally known as intangible

         12  assets. That's a fairly involved question. There is

         13  a precedent in New York State law for compensation

         14  of a private transportation company when taken over

         15  by the City. This sort of reference case is known as

         16  5th Avenue Coach Corporation. It happened quite a

         17  while ago.

         18                 There are questions having to do with

         19  the franchise under which the various companies have

         20  operated in terms of whether or not the 5th Avenue

         21  Coach evaluation applies here or doesn't. There is

         22  an argument that under the terms of franchises, the

         23  City doesn't owe the company money here. There is

         24  also an argument that it does. On the intangible

         25  assets, there are questions not only of what would
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          2  you value these assets at. The companies have

          3  proposed amounts that are tens of millions dollars

          4  overall. And then if you having determined what the

          5  assets if the City were obliged to pay for them

          6  would be worth? What are the chances if you actually

          7  went through litigation that one side or the other

          8  would prevail?

          9                 We have retained KPMG as an outside

         10  consultant to help us value these assets and respond

         11  to the proposals of the companies. We're working

         12  with the Transit Authority to further develop that.

         13  It's all a very elaborate and nitty process. It is

         14  moving forward. There is the real property value,

         15  there's the business value. There is also issues

         16  having to do with the pension and benefit rights of

         17  the employees and how those are to be covered in the

         18  transfer of employment from the private companies to

         19  the MTA. Questions of cost there and responsibility

         20  of the cost, for the cost between us and the

         21  companies.

         22                 These are all topics that are under

         23  active discussion between us and the companies on

         24  the pension side. We've also retained outside

         25  counsel to try to sort through these issues. It is
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          2  complicated. I think we are moving forward. There

          3  are various lawsuits that have been brought having

          4  to do with the legal rights of employees and to

          5  continued employment and compensation. There are

          6  issues as to who is responsible for first of all do

          7  the federal statutes apply that would guarantee

          8  employment and then second who is responsible for

          9  paying for it.

         10                 None of the issues, I think, are

         11  impossible to resolve. I believe that we and the

         12  private companies are both of the view that

         13  ultimately with an interest to maintaining secure

         14  employment for employees and maintaining service for

         15  the public. If we can negotiate a mutually agreeable

         16  settlement or deal between us that is ideally the

         17  way to go here. It's complicated and ongoing. Such a

         18  deal would among other things need to constitute a

         19  settlement of various litigation that's outstanding

         20  between the parties here at the moment as well.

         21                 We're certainly cognizant of the

         22  December date. I think we've demonstrated, that all

         23  parties have demonstrated that they're very

         24  committed to maintaining this bus service and

         25  ultimately the purpose of this whole exercise is to
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          2  have the opportunity and the long run in the future

          3  to improve and rationalize bus service in New York

          4  City. We're moving forward.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you, Mr. Page.

          6  We and the Council certainly share the objective of

          7  improving bus service. I'm not sure how much

          8  actually needs to be rationalize because I think the

          9  bus lines are generally very well ridden. The

         10  capacity usage is very high. But we certainly want

         11  to improve and expand bus service wherever possible

         12  and necessary. Mr. Page, I wanted to ask, you're the

         13  Budget Director. Is that correct for the Bloomberg

         14  Administration?

         15                 MR. PAGE: Yes.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Is this proposed

         17  takeover something that you've been intimately

         18  involved in or just on the periphery?

         19                 MR. PAGE: I'm intimately involved

         20  with it.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Then we're very

         22  happy to have you here and I do want to commend the

         23  Administration for engaging in this dialogue with

         24  us. This is something that I believe, our Committee

         25  and the Council has been very patient in waiting for
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          2  information on. The reason we want to be engaged and

          3  involved is because I can assure you every day or

          4  every couple of days at least, our offices, we get

          5  calls from constituents wondering what is going on

          6  with their service that is provided by the private

          7  bus companies.

          8                 While in the past, the Administration

          9  has basically ignored our need to know what's going

         10  on with the service for our constituents. I hope

         11  that over the next three months as we approach the

         12  December 4, deadline, that you will engage us and

         13  seek our input into how to do this as well. I know

         14  that you already have a 1,000 parties that you need

         15  to satisfy in coming up with something. But the City

         16  Council can not be neglected in this matter.

         17                 Last April 19, about five months ago,

         18  the Administration, Mayor Bloomberg along with the

         19  Governor and MTA Chairman Kalikow, on April 19,

         20  announced that the plan would be in place by July 1.

         21  Basically about ten weeks later after the

         22  announcements. Less than three months. As May came

         23  along and June came along and the end of June

         24  approached, it was pretty obvious at that point that

         25  it was not going to get done by July 1.
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          2                 Some of us in the Council had called

          3  for a three month extension to September 30.

          4  Certainly, if you can announce something on April

          5  19, by July 1, something would be in place, there's

          6  no reason to think that beginning with July 1, a

          7  three month extension could not have happened. Why

          8  was the date pushed back to December 4? Why couldn't

          9  it have been done in three months?

         10                 MR. PAGE: The various topics that

         11  I've been through this morning take time to work

         12  through. We have procured the services of outside

         13  real estate appraisers, outside legal advice, the

         14  pension issues, outside advice in terms of

         15  evaluation of the intangible assets. As you know

         16  City procurement tends to take a long time. We

         17  actually have all of these services actively working

         18  for us now and that's been true for several weeks.

         19                 I think that the focus in this effort

         20  in July was very heavily on the effort to try to get

         21  the State legislature to authorize the restructuring

         22  of the MTA was seeking to better enable them to take

         23  over the service. That took a good deal of time and

         24  energy which ultimately didn't succeed. I have hopes

         25  that the December 4 date is the outside date. We
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          2  have seven different companies in various

          3  territories that we're talking about. I'm hopeful

          4  that we will be able to achieve this change over at

          5  least in part before that deadline.

          6                 I think for the MTA and everyone

          7  concerned with these logistics, if it could be

          8  staged rather than the entire enterprise supposedly

          9  changing over at midnight on one night, that would

         10  probably be a more promising outlook for all of us.

         11  I guess I've worked for City government for a long

         12  time and one of the things that never ceases to

         13  amaze is you can look at a particular task and think

         14  that it couldn't possibly take longer than whatever

         15  time frame you can name and as you get into it,

         16  there always seem to be more issues to be resolved

         17  and problems that come up than you foresaw in the

         18  beginning.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Sure. Thank you, Mr.

         20  Page. We do have a lot of questions and so I just

         21  want to try to get through as many as possible. I

         22  think based on what you're saying, I am inclined to

         23  conclude that the announcement made on April 19 was

         24  premature.

         25                 MR. PAGE: I think that we have
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          2  actually made a lot of progress here.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: That may be true.

          4                 MR. PAGE: I think the announcements

          5  have something to do with it. I think that in

          6  general, we and the companies and the MTA believe at

          7  this point was going to happen. As a sort of basic

          8  ground shift, I think that's considerable.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Well, then I would

         10  ask you to be sensitive to the public announcements

         11  that you make. Because when you say on April 19,

         12  that something is going to happen on July 1, you

         13  create a very real expectation on the part of the

         14  public that something is going to happen. When it

         15  fails, it doesn't make any of us look good.

         16                 You mentioned the state legislature

         17  in your efforts to pass what I would consider

         18  reorganization of the MTA and that obviously did not

         19  pass by the end of June which you were hoping for.

         20  Was state legislation required for the MTA to take

         21  over the private bus lines?

         22                 MR. PAGE: The MTA stated that for

         23  them to be willing to take over the private lines,

         24  they required state legislation. That is a position

         25  taken for a period of time. The legislation has not
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          2  occurred and the MTA is committed to taking over

          3  this bus service and as you know from their letter

          4  of this morning, they're planning to do that with a

          5  new corporate entity that they can create

          6  themselves. When you say required, required by what?

          7  I mean it was a requirement of the MTA for a period

          8  of time. I think they've moved beyond that. And they

          9  now of a mind that this can be done without the

         10  legislation.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Another way to look

         12  at it is that the MTA itself as a state agency was

         13  looking for certain changes in the way they run

         14  buses in our region. Not just within New York City.

         15  Many of us in New York City felt that the changes

         16  the MTA was looking for would not have served the

         17  benefit of New York City residents. That is the

         18  opinion of dozens of elected officials throughout

         19  New York City. We don't agree with the initial

         20  approach of the Administration to allow the MTA to

         21  pursue that route in exchange for initially agreeing

         22  to take over the private bus lines.

         23                 We felt that, I certainly feel that

         24  by combining these two completely separate issues,

         25  the reorganization of the bus operations in the MTA
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          2  along with the takeover of the private bus companies

          3  when in fact state legislation is not required to do

          4  what you and the Mayor and the rest of the

          5  Administration have been seeking for the last couple

          6  of years to do. I don't think that it was the right

          7  thing to do to combine those two completely separate

          8  issues into one deal, if you will, and ultimately,

          9  resulting in additional delays for a long- term

         10  solution for these riders of the private bus lines.

         11  I would like to get that on the record.

         12                 Since this state legislation does not

         13  appear that it will pass and the MTA will not get

         14  its way or the MTA is now saying that they will run

         15  these private bus or these lines that have up to now

         16  been run by the private companies through a new

         17  corporate entity. Right now, the City, the

         18  Administration as well as the Council has some input

         19  into how these private lines are operated. Once the

         20  MTA takes over these private lines, as you say, you

         21  fully anticipate that this will happen. Once the

         22  takeover by this corporate entity within the MTA is

         23  consummated, will we still have some kind of input?

         24  Are you anticipating any mechanism that will seek to

         25  ensure that there be no reduction in service levels
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          2  for New York City residents?

          3                 MR. PAGE: The purpose of this

          4  takeover and it's, I think, echoed in the MTA's

          5  letter this morning is ultimately to try to maintain

          6  and if anything improve bus service in New York

          7  City. The MTA exists for the purpose of providing

          8  mass transportation in metropolitan New York as a

          9  practical matter. We believe that the benefit of

         10  integrating the management of bus service in the MTA

         11  is ultimately going to serve the public better.

         12  Although, the City will not have the same direct

         13  involvement that it has had in the operation of the

         14  private companies as a result of the financial

         15  relationship that we've had with the private

         16  companies.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: I think that's a

         18  fair answer. Again, we all want to see improved bus

         19  service everywhere in the City of New York. When the

         20  Mayor in his budget presentations to us in the

         21  Council and I'm sure to the public first spoke of

         22  the MTA takeover of the private bus lines, it was

         23  couched in terms of a $150 million annual savings to

         24  the City. Now, we are not going to be saving that

         25  annual subsidy. Correct me if I'm wrong when I'm
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          2  finished.

          3                 It does not appear that it's clear

          4  that we are not going to be saving any of the annual

          5  subsidy that the City has been paying to subsidize

          6  these bus lines. Not only that, it's becoming more

          7  clear that the City will be saddled with a great

          8  deal of upfront cost. The areas of cost that you

          9  spoke of. The appraisal, the value of the real

         10  properties involved that may have to be exchange or

         11  ownership transferred to the City. The value of the

         12  intangible assets, as you call it, or the corporate

         13  goodwill that may have to be compensated. The value

         14  of the pension and other employee cost and

         15  liabilities that will be assumed by the City. All of

         16  these items will be assumed by the City because the

         17  agreement that was announced on April 19, explicitly

         18  said that the MTA will not take over, they will take

         19  over the bus lines, but they will not take over any

         20  obligations up to that point that the City must

         21  assume.

         22                 We're not saving any annual subsidy.

         23  We are potentially going to be saddled with hundreds

         24  of millions of dollars. Perhaps as much as a billion

         25  dollars of upfront liabilities. Is that really far
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          2  off the mark?

          3                 MR. PAGE: Yes. I don't think it's

          4  anything like a billion dollars of upfront

          5  liabilities that we're going to pay for there.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Is it a few hundred

          7  million dollars that we're faced with?

          8                 MR. PAGE: I can't really answer that

          9  question. But I don't believe it's in order of

         10  magnitude of anything like a billion dollars. But

         11  just on the cost questions for a minute, the

         12  arrangement that we have right now is that as a

         13  practical matter, New York City, the private

         14  companies provide the service. We own the bus

         15  fleets. We have title to some of the depots. And the

         16  private companies get whatever revenues are derived

         17  from the bus service. They demonstrate to us how

         18  much they're spending in providing the service and

         19  New York City makes up the difference plus a

         20  management fee, incentive fee in most cases.

         21                 We are as a City paying the cost of

         22  providing this bus service. The fact of the matter

         23  is that we had originally hoped that we could have

         24  the MTA take over this cost in terms of their

         25  overall operations. But they run into deficit and
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          2  the City is not free of being called upon to deal

          3  with the MTA's overall deficit. It's gets a little

          4  vaguer. But I think that even if we had gotten out

          5  from under the direct subsidy of this bus service,

          6  in the long run does that mean we will save money. I

          7  don't know. If the MTA is running at a loss,

          8  somebody has to pay for it somewhere.

          9                 But the deal that we're contemplating

         10  now with the MTA is in essence not terribly

         11  different from the deal with the private companies

         12  that we are going to pick up the operating deficit

         13  on the bus service formerly or now, but hopefully in

         14  the future, formerly provided by the private

         15  companies. Not very different from the way it's

         16  always been or been for a long time. I think that

         17  there is some hope for efficiencies in consolidating

         18  the service to the extent that's possible.

         19                 One of the problems that we and the

         20  private companies have faced is that these bus

         21  fleets by and large are old. That among other things

         22  means that there is a major maintenance challenge

         23  here to get them running decently and provide a

         24  decent level of service. Part of the reason that I

         25  think they have not been replaced as promptly as the
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          2  MTA's fleet has been the ambiguity for some years

          3  over how are we going to provide this service. Is

          4  the private companies? Is it the MTA? What are the

          5  specs for the buses? Depending on which you go, what

          6  is the consequence of using federal funds and

          7  federal requirements as to how you purchase things.

          8  You need buses that will stand up in New York City

          9  streets which is not something to ignore when you go

         10  out and buy one.

         11                 Further, aspect of the MTA takeover

         12  plan which will be before their board later this

         13  month is the question of little over $300 million of

         14  capital funds which was allocated to subway access

         15  to LaGuardia which doesn't seem to be happening in

         16  the immediate future to bus service. So that I think

         17  that this takeover is also a way of getting out of

         18  the log jam in terms of purchasing new bus fleets

         19  for this service which first of all, money from the

         20  MTA's capital plan is going into this which is good

         21  for us.

         22                 Secondly, I think that a prospect of

         23  a more promptly renewed fleet in the long run should

         24  contain maintenance costs, be helpful for quality of

         25  service and quite honestly, we'll see whether having
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          2  the MTA run this service is more or less cost

          3  effective than the private companies. I don't know

          4  which way that goes in the long run.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Well, our fear is

          6  that the MTA may be looking to reduce cost by

          7  reducing service levels as it has continued to do.

          8  Even if you look at the announcements made within

          9  the last two or three weeks by the MTA, you will see

         10  that continuing budget difficulties are supposedly

         11  forcing the MTA to cut back on service. We just

         12  don't want to see bus service cut back as a result

         13  of this MTA takeover.

         14                 We're not getting any savings on an

         15  annual basis despite the $350 million of capital

         16  that is being redirected from the LaGuardia Airport

         17  subway extension to probably the acquisition of

         18  these new bus depots and perhaps some more buses on

         19  those lines that are currently operated by those

         20  private companies. It just seems to be fought with

         21  risks with the potential for bus service reduction

         22  and yet we're not seeing the payoff for the City.

         23                 MR. PAGE: I guess that I'm hopeful

         24  that experience will show that in fact we do save

         25  money on providing this service. As you know, the
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          2  City Administration has four seats on the MTA board.

          3  That is a minority position, but it is certainly a

          4  distinct voice on that board. That group recently

          5  voted against the MTA's going forward at public

          6  hearings on potential service reduction and fare

          7  increases asking that they look to what other means

          8  they may have to maintain the level of service

          9  provided in New York City. There have been, well,

         10  there are ongoing briefings of the City board

         11  members in terms of how the MTA sees its finances

         12  and going forward. I think that's a continuing

         13  issue.

         14                 We do have a voice in terms trying to

         15  assure continued good mass transit service in New

         16  York City at an acceptable price. I mean, obviously,

         17  there are trade offs all around here. I mean you

         18  charge, the fare box doesn't pay the cost of the

         19  service. That's true of many things; many government

         20  and government related services to the extent the

         21  fare box doesn't, something else does. Ultimately,

         22  that's probably tax revenue or hopefully federal or

         23  state subsidy. It's an ongoing discussion.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: If the City does

         25  save money in the future, we sincerely hope that
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          2  it's not at the expense of bus service. We hope that

          3  the Administration will use its voice on the MTA

          4  board to serve the interest of New York City riders

          5  more strongly and more effectively and not get,

          6  pardon the pun, railroaded, by the MTA on many of

          7  these issues. We all want to see resources

          8  redirected from the City outside the City. As much

          9  as those riders may need the services as well, we

         10  clearly need a fairer share of transportation

         11  resources for our City.

         12                 One last question I do have which

         13  relates to Commissioner's Weinshaw's announcement in

         14  March of this year that the City would proceed with

         15  using a $160 million, most of which is federal funds

         16  to purchase new buses for those lines that are

         17  currently operated by the private bus companies. As

         18  Budget Director, do you know how that is going? The

         19  spending of the $160 million to procure new buses?

         20                 MR. PAGE: I'm not immediately up to

         21  date on it. I know that we are struggling to find

         22  ways to quickly get delivery of new buses. The

         23  problem here is that the potential for long term

         24  cost efficiency with the MTA basically means that we

         25  need an overall bus fleet that's basically the same
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          2  buses. Because that means they can get parts,

          3  they're maintenance expertise, it all works

          4  together.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Mr. Page, I

          6  understand what you're saying.

          7                 MR. PAGE: That's a problem.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: I appreciate perhaps

          9  this aspect of the operations. Because this is

         10  really a more an operations item than a MTA takeover

         11  item. But I do want to say that originally when

         12  questioned about the $160 million of primarily

         13  federal funds, the Administration, the Mayor himself

         14  said that we're not going to buy buses that may

         15  become obsolete in a few months. We don't want any

         16  money wasted either. But Commissioner Weinshaw in

         17  March said that they would go ahead, the DOT would

         18  go ahead and acquire those new buses that would be

         19  MTA compatible. There is no issue of whether there

         20  would be cost efficiencies that may be foregone by

         21  the early acquisition of these buses.

         22                 While you may not have the answer

         23  today, we do look forward to hearing the answer from

         24  either you or the DOT on the status of the

         25  acquisition of these new buses using the $160
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          2  million of federal funds. The reason I bring up the

          3  $160 million is because we want to make sure that

          4  there is a clear separation between that pot of $160

          5  million of primarily federal funds and this $300 to

          6  $350 million of capital that the MTA would give the

          7  City upon takeover of the private bus companies.

          8  Don't tell us when this thing gets completed that

          9  we're acquiring new buses and for us to find out the

         10  new buses are mostly coming out of the $300 to $350

         11  million pot from the MTA and not necessarily the

         12  $160 million. We need new buses being acquired out

         13  of both sources of funds.

         14                 We have questions from several of my

         15  colleagues. I want to thank you for your patience in

         16  being with us during this hearing today. We have

         17  questions from Council Member Sanders.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS: Thank you.

         19  Thank you to the Chair on this very, very worthy

         20  subject. Good morning and thank you for being here,

         21  sir.

         22                 MR. PAGE: Good morning.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS: I represent

         24  the 31st Councilmanic District in New York. I'm

         25  blessed to be the Council Member there. My district
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          2  is totally dependent upon these buses and public

          3  transportation. We have very little MTA direct

          4  involvement before. That's the 31st in Southeast

          5  Queens. Therefore, sir, you can imagine the amount

          6  of Hades that I'm catching on a daily basis from my

          7  constituents who are telling me that the service is

          8  declining. That they were told and we all were

          9  happier some days ago and spoke of a great takeover

         10  and how this would make things better. I'm hearing

         11  word that the service is declining.

         12                 They're looking at me to make a

         13  difference there, sir. Of course, I must look at

         14  you. Now this deal has been three years in the

         15  makings. One of the strong points of the Bloomberg

         16  Administration is its business savvy. That it has

         17  more savvy than a typical Mayor perhaps would have.

         18  Yet these negotiations are not appearing favorable

         19  to that reputation, sir. I'm a simple layman and I

         20  don't have that great wisdom nor do I have the

         21  information that you have available to you. But if I

         22  had three years to prepare to get ready knowing that

         23  this would happen, even if I had a year and half, it

         24  seems to me that I would make it -- it would be a

         25  better -- I'm having trouble even putting it in
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          2  words, sir. It seems that the whole process would

          3  have gone much better. How would you respond to

          4  something like that, sir?

          5                 MR. PAGE: Maybe we should talk after

          6  this meeting.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS: Okay, that's

          8  worthy. I also just wanted to weigh in and say that

          9  I have many problems with the new structure that was

         10  proposed or has been proposed by the MTA. I fear

         11  that out of sight will be out of mind. I fear that I

         12  don't understand why we can't use this structure

         13  that we currently have. When we thought --

         14                 MR. PAGE: Stay with the private

         15  companies?

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS: Yes.

         17                 MR. PAGE: Well, that is the structure

         18  that's providing you're declining service at this

         19  moment for whatever it's worth.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS: No, no, no. I

         21  don't mean stay with the private companies. I mean

         22  stay with the MTA. Why is there a need for a new

         23  corporate entity or any of these other structures?

         24  Why don't we just absolve it straight into the MTA

         25  as presently constituted?
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          2                 MR. PAGE: I think that the problem

          3  which is the MTA is already up against in terms of

          4  how it runs its bus service is that it already has

          5  sort of vestiges of prior corporate structures that

          6  it's inherited in running its bus service. I think

          7  that means that they have a number of different

          8  collective bargaining units that basically they're

          9  dealing with to provide really the same kind of

         10  employment and service, but for different portions

         11  of their system. I think that the takeover of these

         12  seven distinct companies is going to make that

         13  difficulty worse for them at least in the short run

         14  in terms of the number of different collective

         15  bargaining and employee and benefit units that

         16  they're faced with handling.

         17                 I think that quite honestly, I defer

         18  to their expertise in managing a major bus

         19  operation. That's not my skill. But they believe

         20  that this new structure is going to enable them to

         21  keep the kind of organizational lines that they're

         22  faced with maintaining less tangle up, frankly. It

         23  will work better for them. I take their word for

         24  that, frankly.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS: That indeed
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          2  may be the fact, but I encourage you and others and

          3  everyone involved to keep a City Council oversight.

          4  I fear that out of sight will just mean out of mind.

          5  Thank you very much, Mr. Chair. Thank you, sir.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you, Council

          7  Member Sanders. We've been joined by Council Member

          8  Diana Reyna who at this point we can ask her for her

          9  vote on proposing for Intro. 205- A.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: I vote aye on

         11  Intro. 205- A.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you Council

         13  Member Reyna. We have questions from Council Member

         14  Seabrook.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: Thank you

         16  very, Mr. Chairman. Just a couple of questions and

         17  to follow up with this new entity that the MTA is

         18  seeking. Will the same obligations and

         19  responsibilities and commitment to workers and to

         20  service be a part of this new entity that's created?

         21  Will the same collective bargaining

         22  agreement/arrangements, is that a part of this new

         23  entity?

         24                 MR. PAGE: The same as what? I'm

         25  sorry.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: In order to

          3  create this new entity with this creation, would you

          4  eliminate or would that be the elimination of all

          5  obligations and commitments as it relates to

          6  workers, packages as it relates to the service

          7  that's committed? I'm trying to figure out why this

          8  entity has to be created?

          9                 MR. PAGE: I think they believe, the

         10  MTA believes that as a management matter, it's going

         11  to enable them to do a better job in dealing with

         12  the issues relating to the service areas now served

         13  by these seven companies. And with the workforce

         14  that they will be taking over and the collective

         15  bargaining structure that they will be taking over,

         16  that they believe it will work better. I don't

         17  believe that this organizational pattern is intended

         18  to make any difference to what the basic obligation

         19  may be of the MTA to this workforce and to the

         20  public in providing bus service. I don't think it's

         21  intended to change those basic commitments.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: But there is

         23  no guarantee that it will not change?

         24                 MR. PAGE: I don't think that the

         25  structuring change has anything to do with those
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          2  basic commitments. At least that's my belief.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: Okay. You

          4  raised the issue as it relates to the amount of

          5  deeds that the City has in terms of this property.

          6  What percentage does the City have ownership deeds

          7  in hand of this property?

          8                 MR. PAGE: It owns the depots that

          9  Queens surface uses and Command. For the other five

         10  companies, it does not the depots.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: What

         12  percentage would that be?

         13                 MR. PAGE: We own two facilities out

         14  of eight facilities, I'm told.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: In other

         16  words what I'm trying to figure out because there

         17  was a question that the Chairman raised that the

         18  cost factoring. If you're talking about paying for

         19  property in terms of its securing and we're talking

         20  about fair market value that would actually be paid,

         21  I'm looking to see how much of the land in which

         22  we're talking about that the City owns and how much

         23  of that land does the City have to purchase? And if

         24  we look at the rising costs of property and in the

         25  particular areas that we're talking about, that
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          2  alone could go into the billions of dollars.

          3                 MR. PAGE: Billions? No.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: Well, I

          5  don't know. I'm just asking because you haven't told

          6  me the percentage. You told me there was two depots

          7  but I don't know--

          8                 MR. PAGE: It's two out of eight. In

          9  terms of value, I don't know. I think again, we're

         10  not talking billions. We might be talking, I don't

         11  know, tens of millions. I really don't know at the

         12  end of the day.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK; When will

         14  you know?

         15                 MR. PAGE: When I have a negotiated

         16  deal with each of the seven companies, I will have a

         17  final amount --

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: There is

         19  some sense of assessment --

         20                 MR. PAGE: -- In terms of what this

         21  cost.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: But there

         23  would be some sense of assessment basically of what

         24  is projected that you would have as a working --

         25                 MR. PAGE: There's an appraisal
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          2  process that's --

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: Right.

          4                 MR. PAGE: -- Ongoing right now. As a

          5  practical matter, I only have the result of our

          6  appraiser, I think, on one of the relevant

          7  properties. Ultimately, our appraiser may gives us a

          8  value. The private owners appraiser is likely to

          9  have an opinion as to what it costs.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: No question.

         11                 MR. PAGE: What the final number may

         12  be remains to be determined in this picture.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: I'm just

         14  saying that's something that perhaps, Mr. Chairman,

         15  that we could be provided or that you could provide

         16  Council with on the basis of when will that be done

         17  and how. Because that is a cost factor that has to

         18  be calculated within the --

         19                 MR. PAGE: In trying to come to a

         20  negotiated conclusion with these various companies

         21   --

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: Right.

         23                 MR. PAGE: -- At the end of the day,

         24  there is going to be to each of the companies some

         25  payment, I would imagine, by New York City to the
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          2  company. It's likely to be a payment by the City to

          3  the company for the value of the assets we're taking

          4  over. That's real property. It's equipment. It's

          5  systems if we need them like payroll. It may be for

          6  intangible assets. It's possible that there is an

          7  offset in terms of pension liability of some kind, I

          8  don't know. At the end of the day, it will be a

          9  negotiated number. We're not there yet on any of

         10  these companies.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: I

         12  understand. I'm just saying the ballpark figure.

         13                 MR. PAGE: I don't know -- I really

         14  I'm --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: I know you

         16  don't know now, but I'm saying that you would know

         17  before you would even sit in negotiations. Because

         18  you will know basically what your real property

         19  assessors are going to bring to you and what the

         20  assessors for the private companies are going to

         21  bring the table as well.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Council Member

         23  Seabrook, if I may interject for just a brief

         24  moment. I think we would expect a full accounting of

         25  the different pieces of compensation paid for by the
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          2  City at the end of the process once this takeover is

          3  completed. In the interim, we certainly have no

          4  intention of getting in the way of these as you have

          5  put it, delicate negotiations. We do expect progress

          6  updates, however. But we don't want to get in the

          7  middle of delicate negotiations. You have certain

          8  numbers in mind. We appreciate it. I'm sure the

          9  owners have certain numbers in mind.

         10                 To answer your question, Council

         11  Member Seabrook, although Mr. Page may not be able

         12  to, I'll put something on the line that we're

         13  talking at least $100 million just for the

         14  acquisition of the real properties and the equipment

         15  and other systems from these eight companies. That

         16  is my bet. My point being that it is going to be a

         17  substantial amount even just for the acquisition of

         18  the real property. Not to mention just the potential

         19  pension liabilities and costs and any company good

         20  will that you may have to compensate for. Thank you

         21  Council Member Seabrook. Any further questions?

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: No, that's

         23  it. Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you very much,

         25  Council Member Seabrook. We have questions from
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          2  Council Member Sears, Addabbo and then Koppell.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you, Mr.

          4  Chair. Thank you, Mr. Page. I'll be very brief. It's

          5  been a long hearing. At the risk of being redundant,

          6  I know that when or I believe, I shouldn't say I

          7  know, but I believe that when the proposal for the

          8  takeover is happened, that it was anticipated all

          9  the myriad of problems that would ensue. We're

         10  dealing with maintenance, private property. You're

         11  dealing with personnel, you're dealing with unions.

         12  You're dealing with depots. You're dealing with

         13  pensions that we're all very there.

         14                 My question is that in the process,

         15  were there issues that erupted that were not

         16  anticipated that delayed? Because we all know in

         17  government things can move very quickly or they can

         18  move very slowly. It depends on how just fast people

         19  want things to move or how they wished to have them

         20  slowed down. The length of time that has gone on and

         21  really with all of this and I'm most emphatic about

         22  negotiations. I've had to do them and I know how

         23  long and complicated they are. But has there arisen

         24  in this any issues that were not anticipated?

         25  Because we certainly, I would think that into any
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          2  plan takeover in anything private sector that a lot

          3  is anticipated of the major issues that have to be

          4  dealt with. Because it seems that the Council just

          5  agreed and agreed to extend a lot of this. In this

          6  all planned takeover, have there been unexpected,

          7  unanticipated issues that have created some very

          8  strong stumbling blocks? Is so, what were they?

          9                 MR. PAGE: I think that this takeover

         10  as a concept is very simple. You're just going to

         11  just shift the responsibility of running the buses

         12  from one management structure to another. I think

         13  that like many things of this kind, the more you get

         14  into actually what it takes to make it work, the

         15  more you learn in terms of what the ins and outs

         16  are.

         17                 The MTA has actually over the last

         18  few years added, I believe some 900 buses of its own

         19  for its bus service it is responsible for. That has

         20  among things meant that whatever slack they may have

         21  had in their existing depot network isn't there.

         22  Which means that you really do require the use of

         23  the depot system now utilized by the private

         24  companies to make this work.

         25                 I'm not sure there is any one
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          2  startling revelation of terms of these problems.

          3  There is just, I suppose, predictably a kind of

          4  expanding web of detailed issues that need to be

          5  resolved to bring this to a close. I think that

          6  we're all very committed to doing it without a

          7  disruption of service. Which also means to some

          8  extent, including care about the consequences to the

          9  public or the employees or the other parties to this

         10  transaction, you could stop service and then you

         11  could figure out how you're going to restart serving

         12  these neighborhoods. That would be a way of doing

         13  it. It's not a way that we have any eagerness or

         14  intention of following. We're basically trying to

         15  work it all out before it happens so that it can go

         16  smoothly. That's a lot to do.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Are you looking

         18  for any additional depots or you staying within the

         19  confines of the existing ones owned by the

         20  companies?

         21                 MR. PAGE: If you talk to the MTA on

         22  the operating side and if they had their ideal

         23  druthers here, they would probably have ultimately a

         24  different depot configuration than simply continuing

         25  the existing system. I don't believe that's
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          2  realistic in the near term.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: In conclusion,

          4  I have to say that I think the snowball is rolling

          5  and rolling, Mr. Chair. It's just getting bigger and

          6  bigger. I'm not, with respect and I think that what

          7  you have done and what you do, I great have a deal

          8  of respect for that. I do. Somehow I have to say I

          9  do not anticipate something happening by December.

         10  We're talking about three months and when that

         11  snowball gets bigger, the complexities get even

         12  larger.

         13                 I have to say that I think in all

         14  fairness that I'm a little amazed because the scope

         15  of the bus service in the City of New York and

         16  certainly in Queens where so many communities in 14

         17  community boards and everyone of those boards is

         18  dependent upon bus service to get to a subway. The

         19  reason that money is founded that airport access

         20  didn't happen is due to a change in Administration,

         21  but I have to say it was due to the infinite wisdom

         22  of the MTA. I say that tongue in cheek. Where they

         23  were planning on extending the N- train elevated

         24  going right down people's front yards, grass,

         25  gardens and what have you. At a time when they are
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          2  being turn down, these raised elevators, they

          3  proposed to erect a new one. That is the reason that

          4  that money is available. When it comes to the MTA

          5  and the things that they do, I don't have as much

          6  confidence as you do in them. I really don't. And

          7  hopefully they're together particularly involving

          8  another entity.

          9                 At one time, it was stated it would

         10  be an authority. Well, there is several hundred

         11  authorities. I think the only thing we know what

         12  happens with authorities is they becoming a bumbling

         13  maze of a bureaucracy. I certainly hope that this

         14  entity that they're looking at forming and they

         15  would need state legislature to do that is not

         16  another authority. I think, Mr. Chair, that we have

         17  to look very carefully at that. Thank you very much,

         18  Mr. Paige.

         19                 MR. PAGE: Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you, Council

         21  Member Sears. Questions from Council Member Addabbo.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Thank you,

         23  Mr. Chair. Mr. Page, thank you very much for your

         24  time and testimony today. First let me quickly

         25  reiterate and re-emphasize the need for obviously
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          2  some control of bus service and elimination possibly

          3  of existing bus lines. My district 32 which is

          4  adjacent to the 31st district, again, let's just say

          5  that the quality of bus service is lacking.

          6  Therefore, any change would obviously be of great

          7  concern to my residents.

          8                 We've touched upon many issues today.

          9  The bus depots, employment, many issues that

         10  obviously have sub- issues. You knowing what you

         11  know in the negotiations, on a scale of one to ten,

         12  ten being the most optimistic, one being the least

         13  optimistic, how optimistic are you that a smooth

         14  transfer takes place before the end of the year?

         15                 MR. PAGE: I'm very optimistic that

         16  some of this service will transfer before December.

         17  Whether we will manage to tie together all it by the

         18  December 4 date, I guess I'm fairly optimistic.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Six or an

         20  eight, somewhere around there? It's interesting that

         21  you say, the first time that I'm hearing it that

         22  some, it's not a total transfer that we're talking

         23  of at this point. That's possibly partial transfer

         24  at some point?

         25                 MR. PAGE: Well, you're talking seven
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          2  different companies.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Right.

          4                 MR. PAGE: It's basically, I mean four

          5  of them are fairly closely related to each other

          6  management wise, but not entirely. You basically

          7  need an agreement with each one. The circumstances

          8  of each one are different.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: That may

         10  dictate that partial --

         11                 MR. PAGE: That may go in, yes.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Lastly, I

         13  shared the civil service and labor committee, I'm

         14  quite concerned about the fate of the employees. At

         15  what point are labor representatives for both union

         16  and nonunion workers included in the negotiations to

         17  find out what they're fate is or that they may have

         18  some input? Are they included at this point which I

         19  consider a late stage given that we're only about

         20  three months away? Or are they to be included later

         21  on?

         22                 MR. PAGE: There have been

         23  conversations for a number of months between the

         24  collective bargaining representatives of the union

         25  workforce involved here and the MTA, the City. They
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          2  are conversations, they're not negotiations. Because

          3  they're not City or MTA employees. They're the

          4  employees of the private companies at this point. I

          5  think that it's the point of view -- I guess I'll

          6  just say that. Obviously, for this transaction to

          7  work requires the participation of the workforce.

          8  Otherwise, you're not going to run the buses.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: I agree with

         10  your last point totally.

         11                 MR. PAGE:: How we get there from

         12  here, there are a number of rocks in that road too.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Mr. Page, I

         14  agree with your last point totally that for this to

         15  work obviously that we need cooperation of all. But

         16  we only have cooperation if the negotiations are

         17  inexclusionary not exclusionary. In order to get

         18  that cooperation, I think we have to include again

         19  more so or maybe toward the later part, if we're not

         20  there yet, again representatives of labor workforce

         21  to basically have some input. Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you Council

         23  Member Addabbo. Final questions from Council Member

         24  Koppell.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Thank you,
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          2  Mr. Chairman. I'm going to look at it in a somewhat

          3  parochial way from the point of view of my district

          4  which is served by Liberty Lines and what we see

          5  looking out. First of all as a preface and I've said

          6  this before and you may or may not be aware of my

          7  view is that Liberty Lines has provided a good level

          8  of service. Very few complaints. People are

          9  generally happy with the service. It was looked

         10  upon, when the Mayor originally announced the

         11  takeover, there was the expectation at the time at

         12  least that there would be a saving to the City

         13  because the MTA would cover all or part of the cost.

         14  That seems to have disappeared.

         15                 The latest thing we hear from the MTA

         16  is that they want to increase the fare to $6.00 or

         17  at least they put that on the table which is totally

         18  outrageous as far as I'm concerned and certainly

         19  resisted by the customers who now pay $4.00. They

         20  use to pay $3.00. I must say it went down to $3.00.

         21  It was at one point $4.00, but it's back up at

         22  $4.00. And to now threaten them with a $6.00 fare,

         23  they say to me, well originally, we're going to have

         24  Liberty Lines taken over by the MTA because it was

         25  going to save the City money. Now it's not going to
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          2  save the City money and the fares going to go up to

          3  $6.00. What's going on here?

          4                 What I say to you is number one, how

          5  can we guarantee that if the MTA takes it over that

          6  the fare will not go to $6.00. That's number one.

          7  Number two, what would Liberty Lines charge at the

          8  current level of subsidies? Since the City is going

          9  to continue to subsidize this, what would Liberty

         10  Lines charge to the customers if they continue to

         11  get City subsidy at the current level? Would they

         12  keep it at $4.00 or would they have to increase it

         13  also? Because if they would keep the fare at $4.00

         14  and maintain the service that they presently

         15  provide, I would argue very strongly that Liberty

         16  Lines ought to continue to provide the service and

         17  forget about the MTA. I guess that's my question.

         18  Are we really facing a $6.00 fare with the MTA and

         19  have you ever contemplated or do you now contemplate

         20  asking Liberty Lines what they would charge if they

         21  continued to get the same subsidy that the City is

         22  going to give to the MTA?

         23                 MR. PAGE: I don't think that Liberty

         24  controls what the fare is as a matter of fact. I

         25  think that City does. Right? I think the City in
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          2  fact controls the fare through the FCRC which has to

          3  do with the franchise. On the question of the fare

          4  for bus service in New York City, I guess the MTA

          5  has proposed hearings on that subject. The Mayor's

          6  representatives on the board as I said earlier,

          7  voted against those hearings. As a matter of fact,

          8  asking the MTA to look elsewhere, please. We have

          9  ongoing discussions on that topic. I think your

         10  basic question goes to can Liberty run this service

         11  cheaper than the MTA is going to.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Right.

         13                 MR. PAGE: In the long run, I don't

         14  believe so. Although, experience will tell here. The

         15  questions of what the fare is for the service

         16  provided by the private companies is a direct trade

         17  off in terms of how much City funds go into

         18  providing the service. That's a very straight

         19  equation at this point. I mean, there is a total

         20  operating cost minus the fare revenue and the

         21  remainder is covered by our tax money. There it is.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: I understand

         23  that. And you stated my question appropriately and I

         24  think you should look at it. If Liberty is willing

         25  to continue the service, can they continue to
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          2  provide it at level that will require either less

          3  subsidy or less fare or both and if so, maybe the

          4  MTA shouldn't take it over. If not, then maybe the

          5  MTA should take it over.

          6                 MR. PAGE: I believe that in the long

          7  run the answer is not.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Well --

          9                 MR. PAGE: I think that the viability

         10  of the existing structure and the kind of

         11  relationship between the various companies and the

         12  City that we've had is sort of an odd artifact that

         13  here you had private companies providing a service,

         14  charging for the service what it cost to provide it.

         15  Then you get to a point where as a practical matter,

         16  the fare doesn't cover the cost. That's certainly

         17  pretty much a universal truth about mass transit at

         18  this point. Then you have this odd dynamic of, okay,

         19  it doesn't cover the cost. The City is going to kick

         20  in the difference. Then you try to maintain

         21  standards of service as overseen by the City, DOT

         22  and OMB to a certain extent, and you have private

         23  management. It does get a management fee, but all of

         24  the sort of dynamics of competition and profit

         25  making and so forth that you would imagine to be in
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          2  a private model, aren't really there. And you fall

          3  back on very intense oversight by government of a

          4  private business and a bunch of private businesses

          5  It's not -- I think if you had a quiet conversation

          6  and maybe it's after the dust settles on this whole

          7  negotiation in the future with the private

          8  businesses, I don't think it's a perfect pleasure on

          9  their side in this relationship either.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: You're

         11  absolute right. Everything you say is right. But we

         12  do have many models where we have private enterprise

         13  running things without competition.

         14                 MR. PAGE: Yes.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Public

         16  utilities are the best example of this.

         17                 MR. PAGE: Yes, yes.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: So, it's not

         19  unprecedented. And all I'm saying is before we rush

         20  pell mell into making public this service, let's

         21  make sure that the public agency, in this case the

         22  MTA, can run it as well and as cheaply as the

         23  private entity. If it cannot, then I would say,

         24  let's not do it. If it can, then I'd say, let's go

         25  ahead. That's the issue.
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          2                 MR. PAGE: We believe that it can and

          3  that in the long run this is, in fact, the way to go

          4  to assure service. A point of view is expressed

          5  about public authorities in the MTA and so on and so

          6  forth, I think that most people would say that mass

          7  transit in New York City which is run by the MTA by

          8  and large, actually does pretty well. I mean, as

          9  somebody who lives here, I would say that's actually

         10  something I'm sort of proud of about the place. I

         11  think you can really get around in the mass transit

         12  system. It has its ups and downs and floods and you

         13  get your feet wet this morning. By and large it does

         14  carry people around pretty well.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: You may not

         16  know this, but I've been involved in this issue for

         17  over 30 years. I was probably one of the principal

         18  people that set up the current structure of the MTA

         19  in Albany in the '70's. I was involved in developing

         20  the first capital plan at a time when the MTA was

         21  virtually falling apart also in the '70's. I agree

         22  with you. They've done a great job of coming back

         23  from a terrible state in the '70's to what we now

         24  look at as a very fine system. Nonetheless, before

         25  we take any step, we should examine carefully
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          2  whether they're the best people to do it.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you, Council

          4  Member Koppell. There being no other witnesses,

          5  thank you very much, Mr. Page.

          6                 MR. PAGE: Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: As you know, we have

          8  scheduled a follow- up hearing on this topic on

          9  October 6 and then a third one on November 4.

         10  Hopefully, we won't have to have those hearings

         11  because there will be a very smooth transition and

         12  bus service will get better for our riders. Thank

         13  you.

         14                 MR. PAGE: I hope so. Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: I'd like to ask Bob

         16  Castellanete representing Bronx Borough President

         17  Adolfo Carrin to come up. And Mr. Castellanete, we

         18  will hear from Sal Battaglia and John Longo from the

         19  Amalgamated Transit Union. Good morning, sir.

         20                 MR. CASTELLANETE: Good morning, Mr.

         21  Chairman and members of the Transportation

         22  Committee. My name is Bob Castellanete and I'd like

         23  your indulgence. I'd like to read a statement on

         24  behalf of Bronx Borough President Adolfo Carrin.

         25  Let me get my glasses on.
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          2                 Good morning, Chairman Liu and

          3  members of the Committee on Transportation. I am

          4  Adolfo Carrin, Jr., President of the Borough of the

          5  Bronx. Thank you for the opportunity to testify at

          6  this second Oversight Hearing concerning the

          7  transfer of New York City's subsidized private bus

          8  lines to the Metropolitan Transportation Authority.

          9                 At the committee's, June 11, 2004,

         10  Oversight Hearing, I expressed my deep concern about

         11  the April 10 joint press release by Mayor Bloomberg,

         12  Governor Pataki and the MTA Chairman Kalikow

         13  announcing that the operation of the City's seven

         14  subsidized bus lines that operate in the Bronx,

         15  Brooklyn and Queens will be transferred to the MTA

         16  by July 1, 2004.

         17                 I questioned the effectiveness of

         18  proposed legislation (Assembly 11654 and Senate 7516

         19  that would amend the Public Authority's Law by

         20  creating a public benefit corporation, a subsidiary

         21  corporation of the MTA, to be called the Regional

         22  Bus Authority. In New York City, this Authority

         23  would own and/or have responsibility for the

         24  operation of the omnibus lines and facilities owned

         25  or operated by New York City Transit, Manhattan and
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          2  Bronx Surface Transit Operating Authority and the

          3  transportation services currently provided by the

          4  seven private companies. In mid- June, this

          5  legislation was referred to Committee and as of

          6  today, the status remains the same. The Mayor and

          7  the MTA realizing that proposed legislation was not

          8  advancing, later announced that the transfer process

          9  would be achieved pursuant to existing legislation.

         10                 When this takeover was first known, I

         11  expressed my apprehension not because of who will

         12  ultimately control the bus transportation service,

         13  but for the continuity of service, safety of the

         14  riders, the quality of service provided and the

         15  preservation of the jobs and pensions of bus

         16  drivers, maintenance workers, mechanics, office

         17  workers and others. Today, those concerns remain.

         18                 New York Bus Tours and Liberty Lines,

         19  the two private operators in the Bronx, have

         20  formally notified all concerned parties that if

         21  their operating authority was not extended beyond

         22  June 30, express service would terminate as of that

         23  date. The cessation of that service would have

         24  caused the layoff of several hundred workers,

         25  drivers, mechanics and office personnel. Also,
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          2  affected would have been the thousands of Bronxites

          3  who depend upon the transportation services provided

          4  by these two companies.

          5                 If you add to this, the layoffs

          6  resulting from the franchise termination of the

          7  remaining five bus companies that service Queens and

          8  Brooklyn and the hundreds of thousands of riders in

          9  those boroughs who would no longer have local

         10  express service, one would clearly see the huge

         11  impact service cessation would have on nearly

         12  400,000 New Yorkers.

         13                 The Department of Transportation

         14  wisely submitted to the Council a request for an

         15  authorizing resolution extending the operating

         16  authority to December 4, 2004. Concurred with DOT's

         17  request and approved the authorizing resolution and

         18  on June 29, the Franchise and Concession Review

         19  Committee adopted resolutions consenting to the

         20  extensions.

         21                 More than two months have passed and

         22  yet there is no word from City Hall as to the status

         23  of discussions with the private operators regarding

         24  the City's acquisition of the private bus operations

         25  and the MTA's negotiations with the affected unions.
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          2  As elected officials, we must ensure that all 82

          3  routes will continue to fully operate beyond

          4  December 4, without the slightest disruption or

          5  diminution of service or loss of jobs.

          6                 We must also push DOT to ensure that

          7  a reasonable vehicle replacement plan is implemented

          8  immediately. This must happen regardless of whether

          9  the private companies continue to operate beyond

         10  December 4 or the takeover is accomplished by that

         11  date. When the acquisition is completed, we must

         12  hold the MTA's feet to the fire. It must be held

         13  responsible for all aspects of service delivered and

         14  the continued maintenance of the existing employee

         15  health and welfare plans. They must also ensure that

         16  pension plans and seniority are adhered to.

         17                 Only through a collaborative and

         18  meaningful dialog will this transfer take place.

         19  Major union issues have to be resolved. Pensions,

         20  union recognition, work place standards, civil

         21  service status, seniority and a number of other

         22  issues must be negotiated and resolved within the

         23  next three months. If these issues are not

         24  satisfactorily resolved, we will find ourselves in

         25  the same predicament we were during the later part
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          2  of June and that is simply unacceptable. Thank you

          3  for the opportunity to share my concerns.

          4                 Just one more comment. Based upon

          5  Budget Director's comments, I'm sure the Borough

          6  President would like me to indicate that his concern

          7  would be that the December 4, deadline. It looks

          8  like from the very careful deliberations that are

          9  going on that the December 4 deadline will not be

         10  meet. Therefore, Borough President Carrin suggests

         11  that DOT immediately submit to the Council an

         12  authorizing resolution and the Council proceed to

         13  review that authorizing resolution and approve it

         14  very quickly. Because December 4 will be here and

         15  I'm sure the Borough President nor any members of

         16  the Council would want us to be caught in this

         17  situation as we were on June 29, when the

         18  authorizing resolution was approved and luckily FCRC

         19  voted just prior to July 1st deadline. Again, thank

         20  you very much for listening to Borough President's

         21  comments.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you very much,

         23  Mr. Castellanete.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Let me just

         25  recognize Mr. Castellanete who served the people of
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          2  Bronx for so many years and thank him and the

          3  Borough President for their testimony.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you. Our final

          5  panel consists of John Longo and Sal Battaglia from

          6  the Amalgamated Transit Union. Please join us at the

          7  witness table. Gentleman. Sal.

          8                 MR. BATTAGLIA: Good morning, Chairman

          9  Liu and Council Members. My name is Sal Battaglia. I

         10  am the President and Business Agent of Local 1181,

         11  the Amalgamated Transit Union. Thank you for

         12  inviting me here to speak to you and allowing me to

         13  be able to present our concerns over the announced

         14  plans of the MTA and the City.

         15                 My union represents the bus drivers

         16  and mechanics and cleaning people at Command Bus,

         17  which is one of the seven private lines that provide

         18  regular commuter service each day to the working

         19  public of New York. Command is one of those

         20  companies that along with Greenline and 1179, ATU

         21  and TWU 100, who also provide bus service for

         22  Queens, Brooklyn and the Bronx. Although our

         23  contract expired December 31, 2002, there has been

         24  some discussion of an MOA which was prepared and

         25  which the company is willing to entertain based upon
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          2  the City's willingness to allow this MOA to exist.

          3                 The City will not discuss this

          4  problem because they claim that the MTA takeover

          5  refuses any kind of meaningful discussion with the

          6  locals because they say the takeover will now take

          7  place in December. That is the called the perfect

          8  catch 22. That leaves us up in the air again.

          9  Transit riders have for many years faced several

         10  short falls in the bus service, as you know. The

         11  public has always used public transportation for its

         12  speed and convenience. But the MTA and the City have

         13  allowed this service to become second class. Lack of

         14  equipment and inadequate funding if allowed to

         15  continue means that the future will never have fewer

         16  riders and inadequate bus service.

         17                 It is ironic that these conditions

         18  that presently exist do not result in loss of

         19  ridership. The public is literally at the mercy of

         20  the system and therefore, must endure crowded buses

         21  and overwhelm schedules. And yet, this ridership

         22  continues to increase. But what about the future of

         23  these people?

         24                 Better service and better buses would

         25  further increase the riding public and therefore
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          2  increase income to the City. With a service that

          3  cannot be duplicated, with a service that riding

          4  public wants and with service that continues to grow

          5  despite its shortcomings, it is amazing to  me that

          6  the City wants to turn this service over to the MTA

          7  with its history of poor management and nearly

          8  bankruptcy. We have learned that the City could have

          9  funded these new buses with $3 billion coming from

         10  the federal government that it has refused to ask

         11  for.

         12                 The MTA claims that this transfer

         13  will save money. But we have learned that the MTA is

         14  receiving the same $150 million subsidies that has

         15  been paying the company. So there is no real savings

         16  for the City. Although, the unions and the members

         17  have a history of helping to maintain New York's

         18  position as the greatest mass transit system in the

         19  world, it is common for the City to only come

         20  knocking when money shortfalls and the unions are

         21  asked to bear the brunt of the City's mistakes. More

         22  productivity not better working conditions seems to

         23  be the Administration's war cry.

         24                 Why hasn't anyone from the City, the

         25  MTA or the City Office of Labor Relations called
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          2  upon the unions who are involved and say, Do you

          3  want or do have an idea or any suggestions that will

          4  help improve the conditions that exist? The very

          5  people who do the work are being ignored. Their

          6  offers to help, their requests for information all

          7  go unanswered.

          8                 We have asked many times and had a

          9  number of meetings. But the MTA and the Office of

         10  Labor Relations have not responded. Yesterday,

         11  September 7, 2004, the MTA told Justice Hart of the

         12  Supreme Court in Queens County, that they have

         13  negotiated with the companies. The companies

         14  responded that nothing could be more farther than

         15  the truth. That, in fact, no meetings have taken

         16  place.

         17                 Why haven't the companies been

         18  informed as to what will happen at the end of this

         19  year? Will the operating authority be extended? The

         20  companies claim they cannot talk to us and the other

         21  unions because the City will not talk to them. We

         22  are being forced to continue to work without a

         23  contract. Why can't the MTA and the Office of Labor

         24  Relations meet to discuss terms and conditions of

         25  employment if they are sure that the MTA will take
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          2  over at some future date and why is it that for

          3  almost two years our members have been working

          4  without a contract or a raise or no other fringe

          5  benefits from either agency and has yet to sit down

          6  to discuss any such takeover. Let's be part of the

          7  solution instead of being treated as part of the

          8  problem.

          9                 We are here today to let you know we

         10  will be happy to work with the City and whoever is

         11  going to operate these bus routes. As this union has

         12  done so many times in the past to ensure the best

         13  service for the riding public. But we would also

         14  like to let you know that we have an obligation to

         15  our membership to ensure that these job security,

         16  wage, benefits and pensions are protected. If our

         17  employer changes, so be it. We will perform as

         18  always and provide the best bus service in this

         19  country. But we will expect to be treated as

         20  important partners, not strangers.

         21                 Thank you for allowing me to testify

         22  here today. If you have any questions, I will be

         23  glad to answer them. I'd just like to, if I may,

         24  expand on something today. I took a bus and a train

         25  here today which the great MTA service took me three

                                                            82

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  and a half hours to get here. They run a good

          3  service. Thank you, Chairman Liu.

          4                 CHAIRMAN LIU: Thank you very much.

          5  John.

          6                 MR. LONGO: Thank you, Chairman Liu

          7  and members of this Committee. I'm John Longo,

          8  President and Business Agent of Amalgamated Transit

          9  Union Local Division 1179. We represent the bus

         10  operators, mechanics and supervisors at Green Bus

         11  Line which is one of the seven private companies.

         12                 When regional bus legislation failed

         13  to pass in New York State Assembly this past June,

         14  the City and the MTA announced that they would

         15  proceed with the takeover on December 4, 2004,

         16  without state legislation. Since that time, neither

         17  the City nor the MTA have revealed any information

         18  concerning their agreement for a takeover on that

         19  date. No contract, no operating agreement, or

         20  memorandum of agreement, nor any other document has

         21  been completed and entered into between the City and

         22  the MTA or approved by the City Council which would

         23  permit the MTA to operate bus service on the routes

         24  currently being operated by the private bus

         25  companies.
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          2                 Since June, neither the City nor the

          3  MTA have met with representatives of the union

          4  employees to negotiate new contracts or to address

          5  and resolve the many complicated labor, management

          6  and service issues related to the takeover and there

          7  doesn't seem to be any overriding urgency or concern

          8  by the City and the MTA to do so.

          9                 It is also my understanding that the

         10  City and the MTA have not had any regular contact or

         11  meetings with the current bus company owners for the

         12  express purpose of reaching an agreement. Here

         13  again, there are many complex issues related to

         14  property rights and other assets and to the fate of

         15  the non- union employees that have yet to be agreed

         16  upon.

         17                 Given the efforts by the City and the

         18  MTA up to this point, it is highly unlikely that

         19  within the short time remaining before December 4,

         20  that the complicated arrangements necessary for the

         21  transfer of private bus lines can be completed. And

         22  another extension to the private bus companies will

         23  have to be given to prevent shut down in this

         24  service. Remember, the takeover was originally

         25  supposed to take place on July 1, 2003. Then it was

                                                            84

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  moved to January 1, 2004. Then again, it was moved

          3  to July 1, 2004. And now we are told it will take

          4  place on December 4, 2004. In the last two

          5  instances, the operating authority of the current

          6  owners had to be extended.

          7                 It is unfair and unjust to allow the

          8  fate of thousands of transit workers and 400,000

          9  daily commuters to hang in limbo for so long. This

         10  crisis cannot continue without a resolution or the

         11  City runs the risk of the entire system collapsing

         12  and the riding public in Queens, Brooklyn and the

         13  Bronx losing a large portion of their mass transit

         14  system. Long- term stability is essential to any

         15  mass transit system and it must again be returned to

         16  this system. Without long- term stability, long-

         17  term planning in connection with the purchase of

         18  replacement equipment or adding additional equipment

         19  to routes, to meet ridership, demand cannot be made.

         20  Without long- term stability, union contracts cannot

         21  be negotiated with management. Issues related to

         22  transit workers job protections under the August 8,

         23  1975 Section 13(c) agreement, along with wages,

         24  pensions, and medical are left unresolved and in

         25  some instances, very fragile condition.
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          2                 The members of ATU Local 1179 have

          3  been patiently waiting and working without a new

          4  contract for more than 18 months. This past August

          5  1, because of unresolved issues surrounding the

          6  takeover, our members GHI medical insurance was

          7  cancelled. We turned to Aetna who agreed to insure

          8  our members retroactive to August 1, but it took a

          9  few weeks to get everyone up and running in Aetna's

         10  system. During that time, participants of the plan

         11  had to delay medical procedures and pay for their

         12  own prescription drugs. We have been able to

         13  temporarily avert a disaster by moving to Aetna. But

         14  the situation is tenuous at best because of these

         15  unresolved issues with the takeover.

         16                 If the City is serious about an MTA

         17  takeover by December and this is not just another

         18  phantom date in a series of a phantom dates going

         19  back to July 2003, then the City should bring

         20  together the owners, the union leadership and the

         21  MTA and work cooperatively with all parties to

         22  facilitate a takeover by that date. If the situation

         23  isn't ripe for an MTA takeover at this point in

         24  time, the City should admit so and move forward to

         25  rebuild the deteriorating private bus fleet. The
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          2  riding public and our members deserve nothing less.

          3                 In closing, with regard to the

          4  takeover, I'm asking the City Council to insist that

          5  any agreement between the City and the MTA should

          6  include an employees' protection provision that

          7  recognizes the August 8, 1975, Section 13(c)

          8  agreement. The City Council should also use their

          9  legislative powers to insure that there are no

         10  service cuts in the areas of Queens, Brooklyn and

         11  Bronx that are currently served by the private

         12  companies. With regard to another operating

         13  authority extension if the City and the MTA are

         14  unable to negotiate a transfer of this bus service

         15  by December 4, 2004, the current operators of the

         16  system should be given a multi- year extension,

         17  which would allow for some normalcy to return to

         18  this part of New York City's world- class mass

         19  transportation system. Thank you for allowing me to

         20  testify.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you very much,

         22  gentlemen. There being no questions -- I apologize,

         23  we do have one final witness today. That would be

         24  Jerome Cooper from the Green Bus Jamaica Buses. Good

         25  morning, Jerry. Press the button, please.
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          2                 MR. COOPER: Good morning, Mr.

          3  Chairman and members of the Committee. Thank you for

          4  permitting me to address you. I only have a few

          5  comments to make. First of all, let me say there are

          6  negotiations that are going on. All we have actually

          7  is a process but nothing substantial has been

          8  reached. I will say that in negotiating with Mark

          9  Page, he's one of the most honorable people I've had

         10  the opportunity to meet with in City government.

         11  I've found him to be compassionate and certainly

         12  cooperative with us.

         13                 The big issues remain unresolved. I

         14  have some grave doubts while he has. He filled the

         15  glass more than, he said it's half full. I say it's

         16  half empty. And I think it's less than half. What

         17  you must know is there are three lawsuits going and

         18  a arbitration that's proceeding in Washington for

         19  the non- union workers based upon an agreement that

         20  was reached with this City, with those unions and

         21  with these companies back in 1975 and certified from

         22  time to time by the City of New York as being in

         23  place. The last certification made by them was in

         24  2000 saying that the 1975 agreement that was reached

         25  was in place.
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          2                 One of the provisions of those

          3  agreements was the protection of non- union workers.

          4  This system depends on all the workers. There is no

          5  question about that. The non- union worker, the one

          6  who writes the check, the one who serves in a

          7  clerical position is no less protected than the

          8  union worker. What has been missing and lacking is

          9  that protection. That's what most the chief lawsuit

         10  that's now pending in Supreme Court Queens County.

         11  I'll tell you only about the lawsuit right now

         12  because the negotiations, I've asked Mr. Page and

         13  myself, we agree that the details of the

         14  negotiations would not be made public either in

         15  court or here. I think that's the best way for

         16  negotiations to go forward.

         17                 I will tell you that these

         18  negotiations have included the non- union workers.

         19  When Mr. Battaglia testified, he said before that

         20  there have been no meetings with the City. What he

         21  meant to say is there have been no meetings with the

         22  MTA. The problem with this is a tripod type

         23  arrangement. When the City negotiates from other

         24  things for itself and some things for the MTA, I

         25  don't believe it can be done and I don't believe it
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          2  can be done successful.

          3                 We've been operating buses for a

          4  hundred years. That's longer than the MTA in Queens

          5  County and the other counties. This is not a small

          6  business nor is it a small transit operation when

          7  you consider the four companies that I represent as

          8  Chairman of the Board of Green Bus, Tri-Boro,

          9  Jamaica and Command. This system is a large system.

         10  It would be like introducing into the MTA a bus

         11  system the size of perhaps of Utica or Albany, New

         12  York and say operate it. There are many, many facets

         13  to it which I doubt very much can be met in the

         14  short time remaining.

         15                 From my point of view, unless

         16  everything is satisfactorily in place, this can't be

         17  a smooth takeover. The one thing myself, Steve Egre

         18  (phonetic) who President of Tri- Boro and Stan

         19  Branchnider (phonetic) who's President of Greenline,

         20  we're committed to continue the service as best we

         21  can. The only reason it breaks down is not because

         22  we don't know how to run buses nor are the bus

         23  drivers for Green Bus or Tri- Boro or Jamaica any

         24  less competent than any other bus drivers at other

         25  places. They're just as good if not better. The
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          2  problem is there hasn't been a deterioration in the

          3  companies ability to provide the service if

          4  possible, it's the deterioration of the City's view

          5  of the bus companies.

          6                 We need new buses. We need the

          7  funding that goes into running a bus. Keep in mind

          8  and it's an old bromide that's used many times in

          9  transit, you don't subsidize these bus companies.

         10  Not one penny goes to subsidizing the bus companies.

         11  What you do is you subsidize the passenger. Whenever

         12  you cut down on the money that goes to the bus

         13  companies, you're cutting down on the subsidy for

         14  the passenger. Who's tax money pays for that

         15  subsidy? It's a political decision that's made to

         16  keep the fare at a certain level so that the

         17  passenger doesn't have to pay for what it cost to

         18  transport them. You must make up your mind whether

         19  you want to subsidize that passenger or you don't.

         20                 We can operate as well as any other

         21  system in the country. But you must understand

         22  something that if you want this to continue beyond

         23  December 4, what must be provided must be the

         24  ability to deliver that service in a way that you

         25  can all be proud of. Not with 20 and 21 year old
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          2  buses. Not with the maintenance required for those

          3  buses. Not to have bus drivers who's buses are

          4  loaded to the gills when they're delivering their

          5  service. What must be done is if you're going to

          6  have an interim service, do it right. Don't do it

          7  and say continue, continue, continue. We can't.

          8  There's no way it can be done and still maintain the

          9  same level of service that you would demand and

         10  you're entitled to.

         11                 Now as far as I'm concerned, I think

         12  that this thing could have been done a lot

         13  differently. But then again, I don't run the City

         14  Administration. What should have done, in my

         15  opinion, was to say we're taking over the system.

         16  Let's see and discuss it. And after we've reached an

         17  agreement, then create the deadline. Don't put in a

         18  deadline and then try to satisfy what is a

         19  monumental effort.

         20                 In closing, I would say that if

         21  you're address this problem, don't do it peace meal.

         22  Do it in a omnibus fashion. Fund the bus companies

         23  until such time is the MTA has to take this over and

         24  they can take the buses that you order. That

         25  business of it being MTA compatible buses, we've
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          2  always operated MTA compatible buses. Our system,

          3  everyone of these buses are inspected on a regular

          4  basis by the State DOT. Something the MTA does not

          5  have to do. We put these vehicles through a rigorous

          6  testing. But when you have old buses, you can't get

          7  them back on the street. We're not going to put out

          8  an unsafe bus. By and large, what you have done and

          9  what has been created is a very difficult situation

         10  at best. I'm willing to answer any of the questions

         11  regarding this. But do I not have the rosy picture

         12  that the City Administration does with respect to

         13  the takeover by December 4.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you very much.

         15  Your point on the fact that it is the City that

         16  provides the buses and equipment is not lost upon

         17  us. We have questions from Council Member Addabbo.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Thank you,

         19  Mr. Chair. Mr. Cooper, thank you very much for being

         20  here and for your time and testimony. Just a quick

         21  question if you have the answer. How many disabled

         22  buses sit in a lot as we speak that should be on the

         23  road, but again are on the lot due to disrepair?

         24                 MR. COOPER: When you say how many?

         25  Which company and how and why?
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: If you could

          3  break it down by company, great. If you can't,

          4  combine them.

          5                 MR. COOPER: Well, in several of the

          6  companies, what happens is that we need -- for

          7  instance, transmissions and engines is a very big

          8  capital expense. Years ago before you had the

          9  climate packs that have to go onto these bus

         10  engines, you could do an engine for $4 or $5,000.

         11  Now it cost about $25 or $26,000 just to put an

         12  engine in. There are varying amounts. At Green Bus,

         13  it sometimes, I would say there's something like 15

         14  or 20 buses laying against the wall which needs

         15  transmissions, bulk heads and engines. At Tri- Boro,

         16  about 15 or 20 at Tri- Boro. Jamaica, fortunately we

         17  faced the problem a long time ago. We got our buses

         18  done a long ago and even though we have at Jamaica,

         19  the oldest fleet in the system, we pull out everyday

         20  on time. At Command, I don't think Command has any

         21  buses against the wall. That's where you have it.

         22                 You know you're dealing with -- let

         23  me give you an idea. The MTA runs buses, they

         24  generally take them out of service after about eight

         25  years. The life that the federal government assigns
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          2  to us is 12 years. Jamaica Bus runs a fleet that's

          3  averaging now 16 years. Which means there is several

          4  buses, a large part of the fleet is over 20 years

          5  old. The newest bus we have on the fleet is 10 years

          6  old. What you're dealing with is an aging fleet.

          7                 When Budget Director Page testified

          8  before that there is a maintenance problem, that

          9  maintenance problem also reflects in what we call

         10  pull- outs. If a bus doesn't pull and there's enough

         11  of those, we don't get paid. We lose payment because

         12  we can't make the pull outs. It's a desperate

         13  situation. The first thing we have to do is get

         14  those buses on the road and you can't do that when

         15  this fleet continues to age and has to drive along

         16  City streets.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Thank you,

         18  Mr. Cooper. Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you Council

         20  Member Addabbo. And Mr. Cooper, thank you very much

         21  for joining us in this hearing. There being no other

         22  witnesses, this hearing of the City Council's

         23  Transportation Committee is now adjourned.

         24                 (Meeting adjourned at 1:05 p.m.)
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